

Research Institute Report No. 5

What works: Successful community pubs

June 2017





Contents

Executive summary	2
1 Introduction	6
1.1 Background	6
1.2 Research approach	7
2 Defining success for community pubs	14
3 Success factor: business	17
3.1 Legal structure	17
3.2 Selecting an ownership model	18
3.3 Effective business planning	19
3.4 Access to finance	22
3.5 Chapter conclusion	24
4 Success factor: people	26
4.1 Committed, hard-working and skilled board members	26
4.2 Effective governance structure	27
4.3 Strong working relationship between board and pub manager	28
4.4 Dedicated capacity from staff and volunteers	29
4.5 Chapter conclusion	30
5 Success factor: community and external environment	32
5.1 Community buy-in and support	32
5.2 Support from local leaders and public bodies	33
5.3 External support and guidance from specialists in the pub sector	34
5.4 Chapter conclusion	34
Bibliography	36
Appendix A: Measurement framework	37
Appendix B: Achieved sample	42
Appendix C: Case study questionnaire	43

About this report

Power to Change commissioned NatCen Social Research and WPI Economics to conduct exploratory research examining the factors that have contributed to the development of successful community businesses in a number of economic sectors. The research arose from a desire to improve the understanding of what makes a successful community business, drawing on the experience of established businesses. This report summarises findings in relation to community pubs. Further studies of community business success in the transport and housing sectors can be found on the Power to Change website.

The findings in this report are based on evidence drawn from five strands of research: 11 stakeholder interviews, desk research, development of a set of success factors for community businesses, four in-depth case studies of successful community businesses from the pub sector and the development of a measurement framework.





At NatCen Social Research we believe that social research has the power to make life better. By really understanding the complexity of people's lives and what they think about the issues that affect them, we give the public a powerful and influential role in shaping decisions and services that can make a difference to everyone. And as an independent, not for profit organisation we're able to put all our time and energy into delivering social research that works for society.

WPI Economics is a specialist economics and public policy consultancy. We provide a range of public, private and charitable clients with research, modelling and advice to influence and deliver better outcomes through improved public policy design and delivery.

Published by The Power to Change Trust (2017) ISBN 978-1-911324-07-2



This work is licensed under a Creative Commons Attribution-ShareAlike 4.0 International License. To view a copy of this licence, visit http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by-sa/4.0/

Executive summary

Background

Community businesses are diverse organisations with a set of common characteristics (Hull et al., 2016). These characteristics include community businesses:

- being rooted in a particular geographic area and responding to local need and expectations;
- being accountable to the local community;
- being set up with a business model designed around trading in goods or services;
- delivering positive social, economic and/or environmental benefits for the whole community.

Power to Change commissioned NatCen Social Research and WPI Economics to conduct exploratory research examining the factors that have contributed to the development of successful community pubs. The specific questions explored in the research were the following:

- What is 'success' for community businesses?
- What makes a successful community pub?
- What are the common enablers and barriers to success?
- Can common models or pathways to success be identified in the community pub sector?

Research approach

The research comprised five phases of work: stakeholder interviews, literature review, development of a set of success factors for community businesses, case studies of successful community businesses from the pub sector and the development of a measurement framework.

Outlined below are the community pub case studies that formed part of this research:

- The Anglers Rest is a community pub with a post office and café located in Bamford, Derbyshire. It is owned by the Bamford Community Society, a community benefit society that was formed in 2012. The café and pub are run by a paid manager and 25 staff work on either a full-time or part-time basis.
- The Centurion is a community pub located in the heart of the Vicars Cross community in Chester. It is run by the Centurion Community Action Group, a community benefit society formed in 2016. The Group employs a landlord to manage the pub, who is responsible for two full-time and five part-time staff.

- The George and Dragon is community pub located in the village of Hudswell in the Yorkshire Dales. It is owned by Hudswell Community Pub Ltd., an industrial and provident society formed in 2010. Hudswell Community Pub Ltd. leases the pub to a tenant who is responsible for running the pub and who employs one full-time and seven part-time staff.
- The Drovers Inn is a community pub located in the village of Gussage All Saints in Dorset. The pub is owned by Gussage Community Benefit Society, a community benefit society which was formed in 2015 to buy the pub, preventing it from being sold to a property developer. The pub is leased to a tenant who has two full-time and seven part-time staff.

Case study reports outlining the success factors for these community businesses can be found alongside this report on the Power to Change website.

Key findings

Evidence from the literature review, stakeholder interviews and case studies shows that there are a number of high-level success factors that are common across the community pub sector.

Defining success

While the exact definition of success varies between community pubs, there was a dual focus on achieving financial sustainability (i.e. aspiring to generate a small surplus through trading to achieve long-term sustainability of the businesses) and delivering positive social and economic benefits for the community, such as helping to increase a sense of belonging among residents and reducing social isolation.

Key success factors for community pubs

Overall findings from the stakeholder interviews, literature reviews and case studies with successful community pubs suggest that community pubs are similar to those run by commercial operators. However, there are some key differences that distinguish successful community pubs, including:

- reliance on cross-subsidisation between pub functions and other elements (e.g. café);
- reliance on volunteers (with both general and specific skills) to support set-up and running of the pub;
- the ability to generate their own demand to some extent, i.e. encouraging local people to use the pub because it is a community pub rather than a profit-making enterprise.

Success factors can be grouped according to whether they relate to the business, people or the community and external environment.

Business

- Selecting the right legal structure. No single legal structure was found to drive success in this sector. Co-operative models such as community benefit society were used by successful community pubs. This model was chosen because it encouraged large numbers of people locally to have a vested interest in the success of the pub.
- Choosing the right ownership model. It important that community pubs choose
 the right ownership model to meet their needs. A tenanted model provides skills
 and expertise that founders do not always have.
- Effective business planning. This is underpinned by being responsive to market conditions, regularly reviewing business plans, ensuring the pub is customer-led and, where necessary, that services are diversified to meet local customers' needs.
- Access to finance. Successful community pubs access finance in multiple ways such as shares and donations, income from tenant pubs or access to loan finance, which is facilitated by having a convincing business plan.

People

- Committed, hard-working and skilled board members. It is critical to success that leaders and board members are able to build support from the local community and maintain a strong connection. They are also resilient in the face of setbacks and are able to maintain a positive outlook. The board of a community pubs benefits from having people who have an understanding of business and HR. Having a member with strong financial literacy enables the board to manage costs and develop business plans.
- Effective governance structure. Successful governance structures of community pubs are those that are of a manageable size, and have sub-groups to focus on specific areas of the business.
- Strong working relationships. This is underpinned by a board that has clear
 roles and responsibilities for each member and between tenant/manager and
 the board. Frequent communication between board members and between
 the board and tenant/manager facilitates quick and effective decision-making.
- Dedicated staff and volunteers. Having dedicated volunteers to help refurbish
 and get the pub up and running is important. Once the pub is open, having paid
 staff dedicated to delivering good customer service encourages repeat custom.

Community and external environment

- Community buy-in and support. Community buy-in is central to the success of community pubs, as business models were dependent on the assumption that local people would make use of the pub and contribute to its income.
- Support from local leaders and public bodies. For community pubs this type
 of support helps prevent land from being sold to private developers and helps
 navigate legislation e.g. registering the pub as an asset of community value.
- Support from specialists in the pub sector. Access to expert advice and guidance drawn from previous success stories provides founders/leaders with knowledge and impetus to continue with the venture. Support also enabled successful community pubs to make use of supportive legislation such as the Localism Act 2011, which provides the opportunity for a community to bid for assets deemed to be of community value. Two community pubs made use of this legislation and were granted a six-month moratorium, during which time the property could not be sold to private investors

Measuring success

A measurement framework was developed to provide guidance on how success factors might be assessed in an objective way. Using the set of success factors determined by the literature review and stakeholder interviews; specific questions that could be used to test each success factor were developed, using a combination of factors including how comparable organisations such as micro or small businesses or charities would measure each factor. The result was a subset of measurement questions for each success factor (please see 3.5, 4.5 and 5.4 in this report for an overview of the success measures developed or Appendix A for the full framework).

1 Introduction

1.1 Background

Community businesses are diverse organisations with a set of common characteristics (Hull et al., 2016). These characteristics include community businesses:

- being rooted in a particular geographic area and responding to local need and expectations;
- being accountable to the local community;
- being set up with a business model designed around trading in goods or services;
- delivering positive social, economic and/or environmental benefits for the whole community.

The concept of community business has overlapped with other hybrid organisations such as social enterprise. However, as the definition above suggests, a key factor that distinguishes community business from other socially motivated organisations is that community businesses aspire to transform their local areas through engaging local people as co-creators in delivering goods or services. As such, community businesses have the potential to save assets which may otherwise fail through building high levels of community buy-in and support for ventures and developing innovative and often low-cost business models. Community businesses are also well-placed to strengthen local communities by involving local people in decision-making and building social capital through, for example, providing vital meeting spaces for residents and developing links between staff, volunteers and customers (Percy et al., 2015).

Community pubs are often established as a result of a local pub closing down. They are frequently bought or leased by a co-operative formed of people living in the local area. While community pubs can predominantly be found in rural areas, there are also some examples where people in urban areas have saved their local pub from closure. Community pubs are intended to reduce isolation and improve well-being while providing access to basic services. As well as the provision of alcohol and food, community pubs can offer other services such as a local shop, post office or space for local community activities to take place.

While the community business model is not new, there has been renewed focus on community business in recent years due to factors such as the transfer of power to communities through the Localism Act 2011, as well local businesses and services being at threat of closure due to changing market conditions, the recession and reductions in public service spending, for example.

To inform its longer-term research and evaluation programme, Power to Change commissioned NatCen Social Research and WPI Economics to carry out exploratory research examining the factors that have contributed to the development of successful community businesses. The specific questions explored in the research were:

- What is 'success' for community businesses?
- What makes a successful community business in the community pub sector?
- What are the common enablers and barriers to success within the community pub sector?
- Can common models or pathways to success be identified in the community pub sector?

As the evidence base on community business is comparatively limited, it was recognised that this research would produce early insight and learning for Power to Change, as well as generate questions for future investigation. In particular, it was understood that in-depth knowledge of the lifecycle of community businesses and pathways to success would be developed over time based on evidence from cumulative studies.

The research was carried out from October 2016 to March 2017.

1.2 Research approach

The research comprised five phases of work: stakeholder interviews, desk research, and development of a set of success factors for community businesses, case studies of successful community businesses from the pub sector, and the development of a measurement framework. The five research components are outlined below.

2.2.1 Stakeholder interviews

A total of 11 in-depth interviews with specialists in community business and related fields were carried out, to explore enablers and barriers to success across the lifecycle of community businesses. Participants were purposively selected to include individuals from established community businesses, sector bodies, and organisations working in related fields such as community assets and social enterprise and policy experts. Potential participants were initially sent written information about the study by the research team or Power to Change. A telephone interview, lasting around 45 minutes, was carried out with those who agreed to take part. Interviews were carried out using a topic guide and audio recorded and transcribed verbatim to aid comprehensive analysis. See section 1.2.4 for information about data analysis.

1.2.2 Literature review

A review of academic and grey literature was carried out to gain a better understanding of the existing evidence about success factors for community pubs. Search terms were developed to identify literature on the success factors for community pubs, as well as other relevant literature on social enterprise, community asset management and small and medium-sized enterprises.

A literature search was conducted using academic databases including Business Source Complete, ABI/INFORMS, Emerald, Web of Science, SAGE Journals Online, Science Direct, Sociological Abstracts and Policy Press, reference tracking of relevant studies and input from stakeholders who participated in a research interview. Additional searches for grey literature were carried out through selected websites (such as sector bodies) and Google Scholar. Seven documents were selected for detailed review based on their relevance to the study objectives. Key information from the seven documents was summarised using analytical matrices that reflected the project's key questions (see section 1.1).

1.2.3 Development of set of success factors for community businesses

Findings from the literature review and stakeholder interviews were synthesised to collate a set of success factors for community businesses that would be tested against empirical evidence collected during the case study phase of the research. It was found that a number of high-level success factors appear to be common across the pub sector. These factors can be grouped according to whether they relate to the community business, to people or to the community and external environment. A detailed breakdown of the categories and corresponding subthemes identified through the literature review and stakeholder interviews can be found below:

- **Business-related factors** include issues such as the viability of the business model and plan, the financial health of the business and organisational culture.
- Factors related to people cover issues related to governance, leadership, capacity and partnerships.
- Factors related to community and external environment include issues such
 as levels of community buy-in and support, market conditions, legislation and
 regulation, the approach taken to community ownership by public bodies and
 the availability of external support and guidance.

The proposed set of success factors were reviewed and agreed with Power to Change prior to the start of the case study phase. The findings then informed the selection of case studies, content of topic guides and data analysis.

1.2.4 Case studies of successful community businesses

Four case studies of successful community businesses in the pub sector were carried out by NatCen in order to 'test' the success factors identified in the earlier stage of the research, and build understanding of the pathway to becoming an established community pub from the perspectives of those who manage, run or use them.

It was recognised that the meaning of success would vary from community businesses to community business. For the purpose of this research, 'successful' community businesses were defined in terms of longevity (e.g. businesses that have entered the 'growth' stage of business lifecycle) or evidence of positive social or economic outcomes. Community businesses were also judged to be successful based on the recommendations of stakeholders (see below).

Sampling and recruitment

A list of successful community businesses was identified through internet searches, a review of relevant reports by sectors bodies and advice from stakeholders who participated in a research interview. As this is a qualitative study, four community businesses were purposively selected from the list to achieve diversity with respect to sampling criteria agreed with Power to Change. These were:

- diversity of rural and urban community pubs;
- socio-economic indicators of the area (e.g. IMD score); and a
- a range of ownership models (purchasing/leasing a pub and/or operating a managed or tenanted pub).

Selected community businesses were invited to take part in the study by the research team. A single point of contact was identified in each participating community business. The single point of contact provided the research team with a brief overview of the community business to help inform sampling decisions. The single point of contact also helped the research team to recruit staff and volunteers for interviews and customers for focus groups, based on guidance from the research. For staff and volunteers, this involved speaking to people in different roles who had been involved in the community businesses for different lengths of time. For customers, decisions about the composition of group discussions were agreed on a case-by-case basis (see Appendix B).

Outlined below are the community pub case studies that formed part of this research:

- The Anglers Rest is a community pub with a post office and café located in Bamford, Derbyshire. It is owned by the Bamford Community Society, a community benefit society that was formed in 2012. The café and pub are run by a paid manager, with 25 staff working on either a full-time or part-time basis.
- The Centurion is a community pub located in the heart of the Vicars Cross community in Chester. It is run by the Centurion Community Action Group, a community benefit society formed in 2016. The Group employs a landlord to manage the pub, who is responsible for two full-time and five part-time staff.
- The Drovers Inn is a community pub located in the village of Gussage All Saints in Dorset. The pub is owned by Gussage Community Benefit Society, a community benefit society which was formed in 2015 to buy the pub and stop it from being sold to a property developer. The pub is leased to a tenant who has two full-time and seven part-time staff.
- The George and Dragon is community pub located in the village of Hudswell in the Yorkshire Dales. It is owned by Hudswell Community Pub Ltd., an industrial and provident society formed in 2010. Hudswell Community Pub Ltd. leases the pub to a tenant who is responsible for running the pub, and who employs one full-time and seven part-time staff.

Case study reports outlining the success factors for these community businesses can be found alongside this report on the Power to Change website.

Data collection

Data were collected from each of the four community pubs using the following methods:

- Four in-depth interviews were carried out with those involved in establishing, managing or running the community businesses. Interviews lasted around 45 minutes and explored how success is defined and measured by the community business and the factors that were perceived to have contributed to its success.
- One focus group with customers of the community business was also carried out. Discussions lasted up to 1.5 hours and explored customer views and experiences of the community businesses including what works well, less well and suggestions for improvement. Discussions also explored what difference, if any, the community business was perceived to have made to customers and the wider community.
- A questionnaire was administered to gather structured information about the business, its staff and volunteers and the external environment in which it operates. The questionnaire is available at Appendix C.

 Community businesses were also asked to share key documents such as published accounts and business plans, to give a fuller picture of the characteristics of the business and to help identify learning about 'what works'.

Interviews and focus groups were carried out using a topic guide. They were audio recorded and transcribed verbatim to aid comprehensive analysis.

Community businesses received a £500 honorarium payment for participating in the research. Customers who participated in a focus group received £10 in recognition of their time and contribution to the study.

Data management and analysis

Interviews and focus groups transcripts were managed using Framework in Nvivo. Framework (Ritchie et al., 2014) is a data management technique developed at NatCen. Two analytical frameworks were drawn up (one for staff and volunteers and one for customers) and a series of thematic charts or matrices were set up. Each matrix related to a different thematic issue and data from each transcript was summarised into the appropriate cells. The analytical stage involved working through the charted data, drawing out the range of experiences and views, identifying similarities and differences and interrogating the data to seek to explain emergent patterns and findings (Spencer et al., 2014).

1.2.5 Measurement framework

A measurement framework was developed to provide guidance on how success factors might be assessed in a more objective way. Using the set of success factors determined by the literature review and stakeholders interviews, specific questions that could be used to test each success factor were developed, using a combination of factors including how comparable organisations — such as micro or small businesses or charities — would measure each factor. The result was a subset of measurement questions for each success factor.

Data sources that could be used to evaluate each measurement question were mapped to each measurement category, including specifications about how data might be collected or used where relevant. Finally, a rationale for the inclusion of each measurement question was included, such that the relationship between each measurement question, the data source, and the overall success factor was clear.

1.2.6 Ethics

This study underwent a full review by NatCen's Research Ethics Committee. This ethics governance procedure is in line with the requirements of the Economic and Social Research Council (ESRC, 2005) and Government Social Research Unit Research Ethics Frameworks (GSRU, 2005).

This study posed a number of ethical considerations. For example, participants were informed, by the research team and in writing, of who was funding the research, the voluntary nature of participation, what taking part would involve, confidentiality and data use. Community businesses were given the option of being named in reports or remaining anonymous. Individuals taking part in the research were informed of the decision in relation to anonymity and were able to redact information at the end of interviews/group discussions if required. Permission to share redacted transcripts with Power to Change and the UK Data Archive was sought. A multi-stage consent process was used to ensure that participants could agree to take part in an interview or focus group without having their transcript shared outside the research team.

1.2.7 Reading this report

This report shows the range and diversity of views and experiences among those who took part in interviews and focus groups. As this is qualitative research, we have not reported the number of people who hold a particular view as it bears no indication of the extent to which these views are held in the wider population. Any numerical inference is likely to be misleading or inaccurate as qualitative samples are not designed for this purpose.

1.2.8 Limitations

With any research there are limitations. This study is no exception and we have noted the potential limitations below.

With respect to the selection of case studies, the aim was to achieve as much diversity as possible within the sample with the time and resources available. While we believe the achieved sample increases understanding of the range of success factors that are relevant to the pub sector, certain views and experiences will be missing from this research. This is for two key reasons:

 It would be challenging to fully represent all characteristics of community businesses that are likely to influence success across four case studies. – While every attempt was made to achieve a diverse sample, successful community businesses who agreed to participate in the research may differ in important ways to those who did not. For example, community businesses who are more heavily reliant on volunteers may have found it particularly challenging to find the time to participate in the study.

1.2.9 Summary of report content and structure

This report has four chapters. The first outlines how community pubs define themselves and their success. The remainder of the report is split into three thematic chapters exploring the three high-level success categories in turn. Each chapter synthesises the evidence the literature review, stakeholder interviews and qualitative interviews with founders, board members, managers/tenants and volunteers of community pubs as well focus groups with local residents who are either shareholders or who make use of the pub. Information and data has also been taken from the questionnaire responses and business information such as published accounts and business plans.

- Chapter 2 provides an overview of how community pubs define success.
- Chapter 3 summarises business related success factors.
- Chapter 4 summarises success factors related to people involved in setting up and running community pubs.
- Chapter 5 summarises success factors related to the local community and external environment.

2 Defining success for community pubs

The following chapter sets out evidence from the literature, stakeholder interviews and case study research and provides an overview firstly of how community pubs are defined and goes on to explore how success is defined.

There were two elements that underpinned the definition of a community pub according to participants in this research.

- A pub that is run for community benefit. At the core of a community pub is the local people that it serves; the purpose of having a community pub is to provide services wider than just the provision of drinks to the local community.
- Accountable to local community and shareholders. Where community pubs are owned by a group of shareholders, it is particularly important that they have a say in the way services are shaped and delivered.

Both elements demonstrate a clear distinction between a community pub and one that is run for commercial purposes.

Findings from all across all phases of the research indicated that while the definition of success varies between community pubs, there is likely to be a dual focus on financial sustainability and creating community value:

Financial sustainability

Financial success was understood in terms of the organisation becoming self-sustaining. For some community pubs growth and development were also described as important. Community pubs aspired to generate a small surplus to help ensure the long-term sustainability of the businesses and invest in the maintenance of the building. This was considered important to retaining existing customers and to growing the business.

'Yeah, I think success is a two-way street, really. It's just keeping it open, seeing it being used by the locals is one guide of the success. And you keep the building in some kind of good condition and then obviously turning a profit.' (Community pub, managed)

Participant views on the importance of paying interest to shareholders were mixed. For example, there were some who believed that those who invested in the business were driven by social objectives and so did not expect financial returns. In other cases, participants believed it was important for community businesses to pay interest to investors (typically these were shareholders).

Providing social value

According to the literature the community value generated by pubs spans social and economic spheres and includes:

- strengthening and extending social networks (Walker, 2014;
 Dunbar 2016; Muir 2012; Cambras and Bosworth, 2014);
- hosting local groups and events (Walker, 2014; Muir 2012);
- enhancing the heritage and cultural identity of the local area (Walker, 2014; Cabras and Bosworth, 2014);
- delivering important local services such as shops and libraries (Walker, 2014; Muir, 2012; Co-operative Pubs, undated); and
- creating training and employment opportunities and acting as a 'commercial hub' for local businesses (Community Co-operatives, undated; Cabras and Bosworth, 2014).

The literature suggests that the diverse social functions of a community pub means that it can play an important role in contributing to social cohesion, social capital and reducing social isolation (Dunbar, 2016; Co-operative Pubs, undated). The wider social and economic functions of a pub are considered to be particularly important in rural contexts due to lack of alternative social spaces and more limited job opportunities, as compared with urban areas (Muir, 2012; Tolbert 2005 in Cabras and Bosworth, 2014; Cabras, 2011).

The findings in the literature were echoed by the participants in this study, who felt that their pubs provided opportunities for local people to meet and get to know one another, which helped increase a sense of belonging among residents and reduce social isolation.

'You get some people coming there and they, you know, they may live on their own or they may have lost a loved one or something like that. And they can come in there and meet new friends or they come and share with old friends and stuff. So it's something for them.' (Community pub, tenanted)

Community pubs were also felt to contribute to help communities thrive through maintaining important local assets and increasing the attractiveness of villages to current and potential residents. They were also thought to be contributing to the local economy through creating employment opportunities for local people and buying goods/services from local suppliers.

'57 per cent of our spend is local, and that's one of our fundamentals really which is having locally sourced food, and supporting the community by employing local people as far as we possibly can.'

(Community pub, managed)

Defining success over time

Balancing financial sustainability and community value creates opportunities and challenges for pubs. There is evidence to suggest that delivering community benefit is integral to the financial sustainability of both privately and community local pubs (Cabras and Bosworth, 2014). However, the relative importance given to the commercial and social objectives of community pubs was expected by founders of successful community pubs to shift over time depending on the circumstances of the business. For example, it was felt that community pubs that are established and financially stable are likely to be better placed to focus on increasing their social value than businesses that are loss-making.

According to community pubs participating as a case study there were circumstances in which the commercial and social objectives of the pub could come into conflict. For example, developing products/services that attract non-local custom could deter local people from using the pub. So, turning a community business into a profitable 'gastro pub' that is not used by local people was seen by participants as a failure in the context of a community pub rather than a success.

Measuring community business success

Community pubs measured success using 'hard' indicators of success, such as profit/loss accounts, as well as 'softer' indicators, such as gathering feedback from shareholders, customers and the wider community through meetings and questionnaires. Receiving awards from the Campaign for Real Ale (CAMRA) and other bodies was also seen as validation of their approach.

3 Success factors: business

This chapter reports on the key success factors relating to the community business itself, which were selecting an appropriate legal structure, choosing the right ownership model, undertaking effective business planning and accessing the finance needed.

3.1 Legal structure

According to the literature and stakeholder interviews there is no one legal structure that will guarantee a community business will be successful in running a pub. Nevertheless some structures are felt to provide more benefits to pubs operating by and for local communities than others. Co-operative models, for example, have the advantage of enabling large numbers of people to be involved in setting up and running the pub (Community Ownership, undated, Co-operative Pubs, undated; Cabras, 2011). A structure that allows community shares to be issued is also advantageous, as it can help the business raise the large sums of finance required to set up and run a pub (Community Ownership, undated; Co-operative Pubs, undated; Cambras and Bosworth, 2014; Cabras, 2011).

A common form of legal structure used by the pubs that participated in this research was the community benefit society. Running a community pub as a community benefit society had two key benefits:

- The community benefit society structure means that large numbers of local people have a vested interest in the success of the business. This creates a committed group of customers and ensures the business continues to reflect the aspirations of local residents.
- Shareholders within a community benefit society structure are felt to be more forgiving compared with those of a commercial business. For example, participants explained shareholders/customers were understanding of a slower service or if the décor was dated.

However, participants reported that operating what is effectively a democratically-controlled business brought challenges. This included difficulties resolving conflicts between board members, paid managers and shareholders in a timely way. Some customers of the community pubs also questioned whether a democratic organisational structure could be a barrier to enterprising activity, particularly where the board of directors has more limited commercial skills and experience.

3.2 Selecting an ownership model

Findings from both the literature review and participants in this research indicate that it is important that a community pub chooses the right form of ownership model to meet their needs. According to the literature a key decision at the outset is making a decision about whether a community wants to own the pub or lease the property. The option of leasing rather than buying a pub is sometimes the only option for those finding it difficult to raise sufficient finances to buy the pub outright (Harris, 2012).

According to the literature, another key decision for those setting up a community pub is whether to choose a managed or tenanted model (Cambras and Bosworth, 2014). Community pubs can choose to hire a manger, who reports directly to the community business day-to-day; or to set up a tenancy arrangement, which involves a much more distant relationship between the community business and the running of the pub. Whatever the choice, the pub manager or tenant needs the requisite skills and experiences to run a successful pub venture (Community Cooperatives, undated). Operating a business in a sector with declining profitability requires good market knowledge and familiarly with the reality of running a business in this area. The required skillset includes strong financial literacy and knowledge of how to ensure good customer service.

Among community pubs participating as case studies there were examples of the use of both ownership models. Community pubs that opted for the tenanted model did so for three reasons. First, a tenanted model meant the pubs benefitted from the expertise of a tenant experienced in running a pub. Founders of the community pubs also felt that having a tenant would help raise profits as it would be in the tenant's personal interest to make a surplus. Finally, founders of community pubs were concerned with the level of commitment and time that might be necessary to support a directly-employed manager, and felt they could leave a tenant to get on with the day-to-day running of the pub with little input from the board.

'Well, no-one had an appetite for the management model... it would have been difficult to have found volunteers to be on the management committee [and run] the day-to-day management of a pub business, so that for us was, was never really going to be the way forward. For us the tenanted model was the way forward.' (Community pub, tenanted)

Participants explained that it was important to find a tenant whose approach aligned with the community business's vision of having a pub and wider services that meet their needs of the local residents. Strategies to find an appropriate tenant varied from conducting open interviews to approaching people with prior

experience of running a pub. Participants said that asking prospective tenants to share proposed business plans as part of the recruitment process enabled the community business to choose tenants or managers they felt would run a successful community pub.

Community pubs that used a management model reported that it had created a high workload for board members and managers felt they lacked sufficient freedom to run the business efficiently.

3.3 Effective business planning

The literature notes that at the initial stages it is important for community businesses wishing to run a local pub to identify the reasons the pub previously failed, and to gather information on the level of support among local residents and their needs and expectations (Community Ownership, undated). Prospective owners must consider information about the history of the business and its current trading position, business model, profitability, cash flow projections and management structure. Aspects that help create a strong business plan include exploring options for reducing costs and identifying activities that have the potential to generate a surplus.

An effective business plan is particularly important in the context of increasing operating costs and rising beer prices (Andrews and Turner, 2012). Another aspect of effective business planning involves placing customer service at the heart of the pub in order to build a strong customer base in the face of social changes and, potentially, increased competition (Andrews and Turner, 2012). The literature also suggests that delivering additional products or services can generate multiple and diverse income streams (Community Ownership, undated). However, stakeholders interviewed as part of this research cautioned that becoming a 'multi-purpose' pub is not without its challenges. Decisions about diversification need to be grounded in an understanding of the potential opportunities and threats to the business.

Board members of community pubs reported that developing a business plan and setting out a vision that underpinned it was one of the first key steps community pubs took. Often this was done by a core group of people who tended to be founders and eventually board members of the community business. Participants involved in developing the business plan reported that it was a steep learning curve, which involved learning about various business structures and, in some cases, seeking expert advice and guidance, which could have cost implications.

'A planning application for a business involves putting [together] a business case, which I mean we do in other aspects of life, but it meant that you had to understand what a viable business [is] and we ended up with three models of a successful business. So, even though we weren't going to run it and we took that decision right at the beginning, we did have business cases and business models and we drew on some pro bono help, some free help, but we also employed professional help and raised fighting fund money to do it.' (Community pub, tenanted)

Support at this initial stage of business planning was important to success. Community pubs accessed this from a variety of sources, such as the Plunkett Foundation and Locality, and key stakeholders in the local area such as council leaders who were in support of the pub.

Participants said that having a credible business plan was important to success for two reasons. First, it enabled them to make a convincing bid to access loan and grant finance. Second, understanding the principles of a successful pub enabled founders to make decisions about the ownership model and while interviewing tenants or managers, panels felt the business plan helped them select appropriate candidates.

Board members of well-established community pubs explained that once a pub was trading it was important to adapt the business strategy in light of emerging threats (such as competition in the local area) and opportunities (such as new grant funding becoming available). According to board members, business plans were reviewed and updated every six to 12 months, though in some cases it was less frequently than that, with it being reviewed more like every 18-24 months.

Participants said that key issues to take into account in creating and reviewing in the business plan included: identifying and responding to customer needs and expectations and managing cost and diversification. This are discussed in turn below.

Customers' needs and expectations

Founders and board members of community pubs believed it was particularly important for businesses operating in a declining sector (such as the pub sector) to build an understanding of the needs and expectations of customers. Pubs aspired to retain and grow their customer base in the following ways:

 Providing personal customer service as a way of gaining a competitive advantage over local commercial pubs that offered quicker service and better maintained facilities.

- Being a pub that caters for the whole community through providing a space that could be used for meetings or venue a for local sports teams to use to meet socially.
- Providing high-quality food at a good price in line with the expectations of local people. This was facilitated by increasing kitchen staff or making improvements to kitchen layout.
- Increasing trade through attracting non-local custom, particularly in areas where there were high levels of tourism. However, participants felt it was important that new activities/services did not alienate local people or discourage them from using the pub.

Managing cost

Once community pubs were open, board members and managers/tenants discussed the importance of carefully managing cost. Success was linked to reducing operating costs and increasing sales of alcohol sales and food sales (which had good profit margins).

Managing cost was seen by board members and manager/tenants as an ongoing challenge for community pubs due to long opening hours, leading to high staff costs, and difficulties estimating demand for the service in the early years of the business. Pubs located in large, run-down buildings also faced high maintenance costs. Access to grants to make repairs was therefore considered particularly important to the success of pubs that had experienced years of underinvestment (see below for more information on access to funding).

Diversification

Delivering a number of different products or services helped some community pubs participating in this research to achieve their commercial and social objectives. There were examples of community pubs providing a range of local services such as a café and a post office. In some circumstances diversification met commercial objectives by ensuring that the combined income from the services covered the high operating costs of the business (associated with maintaining old buildings, for example) and attracted greater custom than would have been achieved by any one service individually. In other instances, diversification was more focused upon meeting social objectives. For example a room in one pub was set up to house a local shop because the village did not have one, rather than being a way of generating an additional revenue stream.

According to board members and manager/tenants of the community pubs each service contributed to the diverse objectives of community pubs in different ways. For example, a community pub reported that the pub was the most commercially successful aspect of the business, with revenue linked to 'wet sales' (i.e. alcohol and soft drinks). In contrast, the post office helped it achieve its social objectives by providing important services to people at local level, and the café by providing a space for residents to meet during the day.

'The Post Office is really for its social benefit, you know, the benefit to community. In terms of finance it doesn't actually bring a huge amount of money in on its own. But people will use other things once they come in for the Post Office.' (Community pub, managed)

Diversification was not always a key facet of community pubs' business plans and in some cases board members of successful community pubs reported that it was the result of *ad hoc* opportunities, such as the closure of a post office. In these circumstances board members reported feeling confident they would be able to successfully take on these new elements of the business due their experience of successfully buying and running the pub.

3.4 Access to finance

Access to capital is important to success for community pubs at the initial start-up phase and on an ongoing basis to support refurbishments.

3.4.1 Accessing finance at the start-up phase

Board members of the community pubs reported that at the start-up phase, access to finance was critical to successfully setting up the community business and being able to buy or lease the pub. Participants reported using a range of financial sources including community shares, donations, bank loans and grants and subsidies. Decisions about the most appropriate way to raise capital were influenced by advice from experts such as the Plunkett Foundation, Locality or advice and support from other successful community pubs.

The community pubs involved as a case studies chose to access the main bulk of capital via the sale of shares to local people and donations from the community. As explained in Chapter 4, extensive efforts were taken by those who were responsible for founding the community pub to mobilise the community to buy shares. Community pubs used a variety of fundraising activities, such music events and parties in local village halls, as well as sharing information on social media. Participants believed the key factor that encouraged people to invest in the pub was that it was for the benefit of the community.

While raising funds through shares was considered a critical way to access finance, founders and leaders said they had to carefully consider the maximum value of shares sold to avoid having to make large pay outs if shareholders ask for their money back. In one instance a community pub set out in the rules for shareholders that the business had the right to refuse repayment of shares if it was believed to endanger the business.

3.4.2 Ongoing access to finance

According to participants, securing finance continued to be important beyond the start-up phase to help cover the cost of upgrading facilities and buildings that had experienced years of underinvestment. In these instances access to grants and subsidies or bank loans became the main source of finance. Findings from the literature review indicate that financial challenges faced by community pubs are similar to that of other small business. For example, survey evidence on the main reasons for seeking external finance shows a variety of needs, including sourcing working capital, smoothing cash flow issues, funding expansion or purchasing physical assets (UK Department for Business, Innovation and Skills, 2016). Findings from stakeholder interviews indicated that it is important that community pubs are aware of their cash-flow position, but also that they know what a healthy cash-flow looks like.

According to board members, the key source of finance for community pubs, once opened, was the trade from customers or, where it was tenanted, the monthly income from the rent of the pub. Community pubs aspired to generate a small surplus through trading and this was used in various ways, including paying dividends to shareholders or to keep reserves for unexpected costs such as small refurbishments.

Income from grants or subsidies only played a small role in the finances among the community pubs involved in the research, with it accounting for no more than 20% of the businesses income. Board members believed the businesses were likely to be able to survive without grants or subsidies in the future. In order to successfully secure grants and subsidies, community businesses needed someone with knowledge and/or prior experience of making grant applications.

3.5 Chapter conclusion

Overall the findings suggest community pubs faced the same business and financial realities as commercial-owned pubs. As such, effective business planning was crucial, which meant that like commercial pubs, community pubs had to manage and reduce operational costs and overheads while maximising their revenue, and doing so within a difficult trading environment. This also influenced pubs' choice of management structure, with a tenanted model felt to provide a surer way of recruiting a manager with sufficient experience and expertise to make the pub a financial success.

Nevertheless, maintaining a focus on the social aims of the enterprise was seen as important. This meant that some of the diversification pubs undertook was primarily aimed at achieving their social aims rather than enhancing their financial position. Given the challenging context in which they are operating, it is perhaps not surprising that some of the community pubs were not necessarily fully financially sustainable and there were examples of community pubs in the sample holding liquid reserves of only approximately six weeks, despite guidance (NICVA, 2014) suggesting that reserves of around three to six months should be held.

Overall the evidence indicates that conventional measurements of feasibility for pubs could be appropriate to measure the likely success of a community pub. However, unlike commercially-owned pubs, community ones rely on patronage motivated in part by community action, which means that standard measures of potential demand may not be sufficient.

Table 1 below sets out the questions that can be used to measure the success of a community pub in terms of business-related issues.

Table 1. Success factor: business

Success factor	Measurement questions	Rationale for inclusion
A suitable ownership and legal structure	1. Is the pub owned or leased?2. Is the pub managed or tenanted?	If the wrong ownership or legal structure is chosen then it will have a negative impact on the business. However, understanding what is "wrong" will be a judgement call. Different circumstances are suited to different ownership and legal structures. For example, leasing may be preferred to ownership because of difficulty raising finance. Each pub should have a clear justification for why its preferred ownership or legal structure is the right one for them.
A robust business plan	 Is the business plan fit for purpose? Does the business plan include financial projections? Does the business plan outline how the pub will engage with and involve the community? 	A good business plan is a necessary precondition of success in funding applications and general operations. The financial information will indicate the pub's preparedness for business disruption or shock, as well as how it anticipates its finances performing in the future.
Access to finance	 Does the pub produce a clear set of accounts? From what sources does the pub derive its annual income? How reliant is it on grant income or subsidy? What proportion of the pub's revenue is generated from its sales? Are there sufficient liquid reserves? 	The measurement of how income is derived is important. Too heavy a reliance on grants could indicate weakness, as there is always the possibility of grant funding being removed in the future. Ultimately, a community pub's finances are an indicator of how it can continue as a going concern. Each community pub will arrange their finances in different ways. However, an understanding of the pub's sources of income and the sustainability of those sources of income will help it to be successful.
Organisational culture	Is the organisation open- minded and willing to embrace change?	All of the evidence suggests that community pubs – like any community business – face numerous and varied challenges as they operate. However, the way that these challenges are dealt with will vary from business to business and be set in different contexts. There is repeated reference to the fact that the skills, talents and attitude of leading figures contribute to a good organisational culture.

4 Success factor: people

This chapter reports on the key success factors relating the people involved in setting up, running and volunteering within community pubs. The factors relate to leadership, governance structures, skills and experience of board members, the relationship between the board and the manager and the capacity of staff and volunteers.

4.1 Committed, hard-working and skilled board members

According to the literature it is important that an individual, group or organisation (such as a Parish Council or a Community Development Trust) takes a leading role in channelling the collective support of local residents (ORCC, undated). In line with these findings, community pubs that had participated as a case study had benefited from a core group of volunteers who were committed, hard-working and skilled and were able to drive the project forward. At the initial set-up stage participants involved in founding the business reported that they would meet on a regular basis (sometimes weekly) to work through the business plan and anticipated challenges.

'About a dozen of us started meeting regularly, and working up a business plan, and a programme of action for working out how on earth we were going to raise the money... we met probably, at some stage, weekly, and even small groups of us meeting at other social occasions; we'd always be talking about the pub and what was happening.' (Community pub, managed)

Key tasks included building support for the venture among the local community, developing a plan for purchasing the asset and running the businesses and raising the finance required to purchase the asset.

An elected board of directors played an important role in the management of the community pub. Having a board with the requisite skills and experience to run a community business was perceived to influence long-term success. This included knowledge and skills in areas such as Human Resources (HR), finance and business planning. Having board members with requisite commercial knowledge and financial experience helped community pubs to initially access capital, manage cost and develop profitable trading activities. For example, one of the community pubs benefited from a member of the board having a long career in finance which they felt they could use to their advantage when raising the funds to buy the pub via shareholders and accessing a bank loan.

It was also felt to be important to success if there were board members who had knowledge and experience of the pub sector. These board members helped navigate regulations specific to the pub sector and aided the board to identify strong and experienced hired managers or tenants.

Founders of community pubs were also successful in drawing on skills and expertise from the wider community when needed. For example, one community pub used the experience of a local resident to help with IT and communications who helped set up a website, which enabled local residents to easily buy shares or donate funds. Engaging experts from outside of those involved in setting up the community business relied upon strong community engagement from the outset.

4.2 Effective governance structure

Evidence from the literature suggests that once a community pub is trading it is important to keep the governing board to a manageable size (Community Ownership, undated). The board must also be clear on the divisions of roles and responsibilities. Alongside this the board must establish adequate systems for setting and appraising performance targets and obtaining regular information on the financial performance of the business (ORCC, undated).

Village pubs in particular (both commercial pubs and community businesses) are thought to be more successful when they have a strong connection with the local community. Cambras and Bosworth (2014) suggest that developing strong links to local communities can also help businesses to access and mobilise the resources required to run a successful business.

According to board members of community pubs the creation of sub-groups (such as marketing, HR) with responsibility for particular areas of the business was believed to improve the effectiveness of the businesses. However, it was also seen as important to maintain a degree of flexibility over roles and responsibilities so that businesses are able to respond to issues as they arise.

4.2.1 Succession planning

As explained above, the first few years of managing and running a community business were reported to be particularly challenging and required dedication and hard work from the board. It was considered possible that members may eventually 'run out of steam' due to the difficult and demanding nature of sitting on a board of community pub. In some cases participants reported that some board members found the job harder than they had expected and had therefore decided to step down.

Board members reported looking out for potential new members on an ongoing basis to ensure there were suitable replacements if a member left. For example, one community pub that was aware that a board member was thinking of standing down, decided to reach out to the local community to appeal for new volunteer board members and was able to successfully find replacements. There was, however, some concern among board members that new members may not be as committed as those involved in setting up the community business.

'My impression is, with each lot that, new lot that come in, they're not as wholeheartedly committed to it as the ones who were in it from the beginning, which is what you'd expect. You know... when it's been your baby, you've seen it through and you feel a bit possessive about it.'

(Community pub, tenanted)

4.3 Strong working relationship between board and pub manager

Findings from interviews with the board and managers/tenants of successful community pubs indicate that a strong working relationship between all board members and between the board and the tenant or hired manager of the pub was an important factor for success. Having an open and honest forum for discussion and democratic decision-making were the key aspects that underpinned a strong working relationship. It was also recognised that boards were effective in their decision-making when individual members were willing to compromise on their personal visions for the pub. However, democratic structures were also perceived to have drawbacks, for example taking long periods of time to make key decisions.

Successful working relationships between board members and hired managers or tenants was underpinned by regular communication that was open and honest. For example, a tenant in a successful community pub reported having quarterly meetings where they and the board analysed performance together. Board members, managers and tenants also reflected that the relationship worked well when both parties were learning something from the other. For example, in one community pub board members shared their combined vision with the tenant, which helped the tenant to better understand the board and its aspirations for the pub. In another the tenant shared their skills and experience of running a pub with inexperienced board members, which enabled them to make more effective business planning decisions.

According to shareholders, where challenges occurred it was often because of a lack of clarity around the division of roles and responsibilities between the board and hired manager or tenant. For example, participants on the board of pubs using a tenanted model reported that people in the local community often came to them with issues about the pub, rather than approaching the tenant.

'We sometimes get people who have been for a meal and, and maybe they haven't enjoyed it quite as much and they meet us and, and whinge at us and we have to remind them well actually, you know you, you should really talk to the tenant about that.' (Community pub, tenanted)

Another challenge raised by both board members and hired managers or tenants was that differences of opinion can prevent decisions from being made in a timely way.

4.4 Dedicated capacity from staff and volunteers

According to founders and board members, there were two stages at which access to staff or volunteers was important to success. First, community pubs benefitted extensively from volunteers at the refurbishment stage. Board members explained that this was particularly helpful for businesses that had not had a grant for refurbishment or where the pub had fallen into disrepair and needed extensive work. However, sustaining interest and enthusiasm among volunteers was a challenge, particularly when community pubs had been operating for several years. It was suggested a key way to overcome this was by doing more to proactively identify issues and ask local people for help.

According to both board members and customers of the community pubs, staff played a key role in the success of a community pub. Board members explained that staff that provided good customer service ensured that local residents were loyal and regularly visited the pub. As explained in chapter three, providing a good quality service was perceived to be particularly important to offset some of the negatives of a community pub, such as the décor being dated or a slow service due to limited numbers of staff.

'Most importantly is the manners and their willingness to want to please people, yeah, 'cause that's what we want to be. We've not got the best building, we've not got, you know, the best décor but we aim to give the best service and be the, you know, the most helpful. That is what is important to us and to our staff and we hope that they, they come with that same ethos when they join us.' (Community pub, tenanted)

The staffing model was similar across the community pubs. In terms of employees, there tended to be a small number of full-time staff and a larger number of part-time staff. Regular volunteers involved in the community pubs tended to be board members; it was rare for volunteers to be involved in the day-to-day operations. According to tenants and managers this was largely because it was difficult to find people who were willing to work for long periods during unsociable hours. A wider volunteer base was utilised at the refurbishment stage and, in some instances, on an *ad hoc* basis where members of the local community who had specific skills offered their support, such as an electrician helping with lighting.

4.5 Chapter conclusion

Successful community pubs needed board members with a distinct and specialist set of skills in order to overcome some of the challenges in setting up and running a pub. These skills were both sector-specific (i.e. prior experience of working in the pub sector), and also those related to more general business functions (i.e. financial management or marketing expertise) were considered important.

Relationships between the board, tenant/managers and staff are all important for the continued success of a community pub. Strong working relationships between board members and the board and tenant/managers were characterised by a culture of openness and a willingness to learn from one another.

Due to long and unsociable hours community pubs have found it difficult to attract local people to volunteer doing shifts at the pub. A successful staffing model is one that involves paid staff. Finding the balance between full and part-time staff was a challenge, particularly at the initial stages when there was uncertainty around the extent to which the local community and wider groups (e.g. holidaymakers) might use the pub. Ensuring repeat custom and continued investment from the local community was underpinned by having staff who were dedicated to providing good customer service.

Table 2 below sets out the questions that can be used to measure the success of a community pub in terms of factors related to the people involved.

Table 2. Success factor: people

Success factor	Measurement questions	Rationale for inclusion
A clear governance structure	 Does the pub have a governance structure? Does the pub review and update its governance structure? Is the board accountable to the local community? 	Evidence suggests that once a community pub is trading it is important to keep the board to a manageable size. The board must also be clear on the divisions of roles and responsibilities. Alongside this the board must establish adequate systems for setting and appraising performance targets and obtaining regular information on the financial performance of the business.
Leadership	1. Does the pub have one person or a group of dedicated people to run it?	The case study evidence suggests that successful community pubs have one or more dedicated people to run it, and that if they didn't the pub would not exist.
Capacity and support	 Does the pub have sufficient people to run the business? What is the mix of paid employees and volunteers? Does the pub have access to the requisite skill sets to run the pub? 	The involvement of leaders/volunteers/staff with knowledge, skills, time and energy that are relevant to the business is a necessary condition for success. Some skills are more important to others within pubs. For example, financial management skills, sector specific skills and the ability to navigate regulations have all been referenced as important.
Partnerships	1. Does the pub have strong relationships with partners, such as support organisations, sector bodies or local councils?	Success is underpinned by strong relationships with partners such as support organisations, public bodies, the supply chain and the community.

5 Success factor: community and external environment

This chapter reports on the key success factors relating to the community and external environment, including community buy-in and support, support from public bodies, external guidance and navigating relevant regulations.

5.1 Community buy-in and support

Mobilising the support of the community was the responsibility of a core group who were responsible for setting up the community business. According to the literature the process of taking on ownership takes time and it is important that support and enthusiasm are maintained during this period. Findings from the literature suggest this can be achieved through good marketing and communication strategies which keep the community informed of progress and sustains interest in the project (ORCC, undated).

Founders of community pubs explained that they were able to garner community buy-in by creating comprehensive communication campaigns. These involved regular local meetings and events, including meetings that explored the community's views on the vision for the pub, and the use of local TV and radio and social media to promote the community business. There were examples of community pubs that had widespread interest from the local community from the outset, and where mobilising this support stopped the pub being bought by a commercial enterprise.

'We mobilised people to object to the planning application... we set up a Facebook page... we delivered leaflets to all properties, and we had regular meetings in the pub, and we got 430 objections put in to the planning application.' (Community pub, tenanted)

There were however also examples where local people expressed reservations about community ownership. These included concerns that those leading the project would financially benefit from owning the pub. Tensions also arose when key people involved in campaigning to save the pub were not felt to be reflective of the whole community (e.g. professionals versus non-professionals, or 'incomers' versus /people who have lived in the local area for their whole lives). Leaders setting up the community pubs were able to mitigate the challenges, at least to some extent, through working hard to communicate the benefits of community ownership to local people.

Engaging the community was also central to the success of the pub long-term. Board members and managers/tenants of the pubs therefore continued to work to engage the community by offering the pub as a space for local community groups to use, such as knitting groups, local language classes and using the pub for social events. One participant described how the pub actively encouraged local people to use the space for parties, christenings and other social events which under the previous tenant were discouraged.

A customer of the community pub described the pub as 'becoming more of a community centre than the community centre'.

5.2 Support from local leaders and public bodies

Findings from both the literature review and from community pubs participating as case studies found that support from local leaders and public bodies underpinned the successful acquisition of the lease or purchase of the pub. According to the literature, the degree to which councils make effective use of powers available to them in the planning application process depends on factors such as aspiration and political will, whether the council has a clear and coherent vision for what they want to achieve with their planning policies, and their level of understanding and confidence in the powers (Walker, 2014; Co-operative Pubs, undated). Founders of community pubs reported that MPs or the local council provided support to successfully acquire the pub. For example, a community pub benefited from political support that helped prevent the land being sold to property developer.

Findings from the literature suggest that public bodies such as local district councils and local parishes can play a leading role in actively promoting the 'Community Right to Bid' legislation (part of the Localism Act 2011), raise awareness of risks to local pubs and galvanise support for community ownership (Walker, 2014). Among the case studies, there were examples of community businesses that had made use of the Community Right to Bid legislation. For example, in one case the council was unfamiliar with the Community Right to Bid, yet they were supportive of the community businesses and worked closely with the founders to understand and used the legislation to list the pub as an asset of community value. In this instance the six-month moratorium during which the land could not be sold to private investors was helpful in allowing time to mobilising the local community and for the community business to prepare their application to buy the pub. They explained that it allowed leaders to set up campaigns to establish community buy-in to help put in objections to planning permission and to attract members of the community to become shareholders, and time to develop viable business plans which were used to secure loan finance.

5.3 External support and guidance from specialists in the pub sector

Evidence from the literature review indicates that community pubs find information and support from others already running a successful pub as well as guidance from sector bodies useful (Community Ownership, undated). Accessing advice and support from organisations set up to support community pubs, such as CAMRA, Plunkett Foundation and Locality, was recognised as an important factor for success, particularly at the initial stages of community business development. Events and seminars held by the Plunkett Foundation were noted as particularly useful, as was personalised advice and support such as being put in touch with similar community pubs that were up and running.

'Plunkett Foundation gave us access to talk to people who had been through it before. We spoke to two other pubs... that had done it... it meant we didn't have to totally reinvent the wheel. There were people who had had [the] experience and were willing to share that experience so it helped us map our journey and understand what the steps we had to take. Albeit our steps in detail might be different, the process was very similar.' (Community pub, managed)

This advice and support gave founders of successful community pubs the confidence to continue with their ambition of re-opening their local pub.

5.4 Chapter conclusion

Community buy-in was important for the pubs in this study at a number of different stages of development. At the initial stages it helped raise capital and gather support for the acquisition of the pub. Once opened buy-in continues to be important to ensure local people are making use of the pub and therefore provide it with a key source of income. Successful community pubs have been able to help create their own demand via community engagement and support. However, findings suggest that community pubs face similar barriers to commercially owned pubs, such as lack of overall demand and competition from other business.

Table 3 below sets out the that can be used to measure the success of a community pub in terms of the community and external environment.

Table 3. Success factors: community and external environment

Success factor	Measurement questions	Rationale for inclusion
	· ·	
Community buy-in and support	Does the community pub have community buy-in and support?	Understanding awareness, views, and support is key and no secondary datasets will exist on issues related to the specific community business.
Economic and social context/ market conditions	 Does demand exist for the product? What factors affect demand for the product or service? What competitive pressures does the pub face? 	Determining if there is sufficient demand for the pub's services is fundamental to understanding if it is a viable business. Demand should be looked at with a note of caution. It is clear from the evidence that community pubs can create their own demand. Ultimately, headline economic indicators will provide an overview of a particular area, but they cannot say whether community buy-in can be generated to buy the pub's products or services.
Ability to navigate legislation and regulation	Are regulations and legislation effectively complied with?	Legislation and regulations could apply to many different parts of the pub business. It could be employment law, food standards, age restrictions, or a number of other factors. Understanding how these affect the business, and what needs to be done in order to comply will help the smooth operation of the business.
Approach to community ownership by public bodies	Are there examples of goodwill and support from local public bodies?	If the local bodies actively support and promote community ownership then pubs will likely have a greater support network. For example, with respect to the planning process, the degree to which councils make effective use of powers available to them depends on factors such as aspiration and political will, whether the council has a clear and coherent vision for what they want to achieve with their planning policies and their level of understanding and confidence in the powers.
Availability of external support and guidance	1. Does the community pub have the opportunity to access the relevant support and guidance from a variety of sources?	Having the opportunity to access relevant support and guidance from a variety of sources such as the local authority, other businesses, sector bodies or individual mentors can support success.
Availability of assets	 Does the community pub have access to available assets? Does the pub have the ability to service the costs of its assets? 	The availability of assets that are affordable is a key contributor to success.

Bibliography

Ainsworth, P. (2014) Saving your local pub. Herts: CAMRA.

Andrews, D. and Turners, S. (2012) Is the pub still the hub? *International Journal of Contemporary Hospitality Management.* 24 (4), 542-552.

British Beer & Pub Association (2016). *Running a pub: A guide to the costs for tied tenants and lessees.* Retrieved May 25, 2017 from www.beerandpub.com

Cabras, I. and Bosworth, G. (2014) Embedded models of rural entrepreneurship: The case of pubs in Cumbria, North West of England. *Local Economy*. 29 (6-7), 598-616.

Cabras, I. and Mount, M. (2014) The importance of pubs in shaping community cohesion and social wellbeing in rural areas of England. Final report prepared for the British Academy.

Carbras, I. and Mount, M. (2015) Community Cohesion and Village Pubs in Northern England: An Econometric Study. *Regional Studies*. 50 (7), 1203-1216.

CAMRA (Undated) *Community Ownership Pubs Campaigning Workshop.* Available from http://www.
camra.org.uk/documents/10180/21105/DCLG+Pubs+Camp
aigning+Workshop_1.pdf/f216bfe7-fecc-4108-8607c9512481359c [Accessed 14 November 2016].

Dunbar, R. (2016) *Friends on Tap: The role of pubs at the heart of the community: A Report for CAMRA*. Oxford: Department of Experimental Psychology, University of Oxford.

Government Social Research Unit (2005) GSR Professional Guidance: Ethical Assurance for Social Research in Government. Cabinet Office.

Harris, J. (2012, March 18) *Pub giants fall into debt, but publicans feel the pain.* Retrieved from http://www.theguardian.com

Hull, D. Davies, T. & Swersky, A. (2016) The Community Business Market in 2016. Power to Change.

Localism Act 2011. London: The Stationery Office. Available at: http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2011/20/contents/enacted [Accessed 12 May 2017]. Lovatt, J. (2002) Can the rural pub survive? A challenge for management or a lost cause. *Management Research News.* 25 (1), 60-72.

Muir, R. (2012) *Pubs and Places: The social value of community pubs.* Second edition. London: IPPR.

NICVA (2014) *Guidance on Reserves*. Available at: http://www.nicva.org/resource/guidance-reserves [Accessed 23 May 2017]

Oxfordshire Rural Community Council (2013) *Saving the Village Pub.* Oxfordshire: ORCC.

Percy, C. Swersky, A. Hull, D. and Medley-Hallam, J. (2015) *The community business market in 2015*. Power to Change

Plunkett Foundation (2014) Co-operative pubs: A better form of business. Woodstock: Plunkett Foundation.

Pub is the Hub (Undated) Community Ownership and Running of Pubs. Harrogate: Pub is the Hub.

Ritchie, J., Lewis, L., McNaughton-Nichols, C., Ormston, R. (2014) *Qualitative Research Practice, a guide for Social Science students and Researchers* (2nd edition). London: SAGE Publications.

Spencer, L., Ritchie, J., O'Connor, W., Barnard, M., Morell, G., Carrying out Qualitative Analysis, in Ritchie, J., Lewis, J., McNoughton-Nichols, C., Ormston, R. (2014) *Qualitative Research Practice* (2nd edition)

UK Department for Business, Innovation and Skills (2016). Longitudinal Small Business Survey Year 1 (2015): SME employers (BIS Research Paper Number 289). London: Department for Business, Innovation and Skills

Start Up Loans Company (2013). Cash Flow Forecast template. Retrieved May 25, 2017 from https://www.startuploans.co.uk

The Economic & Social Research Council (2005). *Research Ethics Framework.*

Walker, A. (2014) Public houses: how councils and communities can save pubs. London: LGiU.

Appendix A: Measurement framework

Success factor: business

Success factor	Measurement questions	Data and information sources	Rationale for inclusion
A suitable ownership and legal structure	 Is the pub owned or leased? Is the community pub managed or tenanted? 	 These is no data source related to these factors. Information should be found in the pub's business plan or annual report. 	If the wrong ownership or legal structure is chosen then it will have a negative impact on the business. However, understanding what is "wrong" will be a judgement call. Different circumstances are suited to different ownership and legal structures. For example, leasing may be preferred to ownership because of difficulty raising finance. Each pub should have a clear justification for why its preferred ownership or legal structure is the right one for them.
A robust business plan	 Does a business plan exist? Does the business plan include financial projections? Does the business plan outline how the pub will engage with and involve the community? 	 The pub's business would be the source for this information. It can be used to compare current financial projections against those of previous years. While the finances of each individual business will be different, there is information that can be referenced to "sense check" the construct of financial projections. (British Beer and Pub Association, 2016). There is plenty of information on what a good cash flow forecast should include, such as the government's source (Start Up Loans Company, 2013). 	A good business plan is a necessary precondition of success in funding applications and general operations. The financial information will indicate the pub's preparedness for business disruption or shock, as well as how it anticipates its finances performing in the future.

Success factor	Measurement questions	Data and information sources	Rationale for inclusion
Access to finance	 Does the pub produce a clear set of accounts? From what sources does the pub derive its annual income? How reliant is it on grant income or subsidy? What proportion of the pub's revenue is generated from its sales? Are there sufficient liquid reserves? 	 The pub's accounts should provide clear information on the income and expenditure of the business. One indicator is the breakdown of the pub's annual income to establish if it is too reliant on one source for its income. For example, how much is from grants, how much is from food/beer sales, how much is from the shop that it runs etc. Liquid Reserves are the assets held by a company that can be used immediately to meet emergency needs or future payment requirements. A "sufficient" level of liquid reserves will vary from business to business. That said, a rough rule of thumb is that three to six months of reserves should be held. 	The measurement of how income is derived is important. Too heavy a reliance on grants could indicate weakness, as there is always the possibility of grant funding being removed in the future. Ultimately, a community pub's finances are an indicator of how it can continue as a going concern. Each community pub will arrange its finances in different ways. However, an understanding of the pub's sources of income and the sustainability of those sources of income will help it to be successful.
Organisational culture	Is the organisation open- minded and willing to embrace change?	 This success factor is unmeasurable with data. There may be indications of a strong organisational culture within business plans and within annual reports, but these will be subjective judgements. 	All of the evidence suggests that community pubs – like any community business – face numerous and varied challenges as they operate. However, the way that these challenges are dealt with will vary from business to business and be set in different contexts. There is repeated reference to the fact that the skills, talents and attitude of leading figures contribute to a good organisational culture.

Success factor: people

Success factor	Measurement questions	Data and information sources	Rationale for inclusion
A clear governance structure	 Does the pub have a governance structure? Does the pub review and update its governance structure? Is the board accountable to the local community? 	 The answers to the first two questions will be found in the pub's published information. Although not a necessary condition for good governance, regular turnover of board members can indicate a refresh of ideas and skills. 	Evidence suggests that once a community pub is trading it is important to keep the board to a manageable size. The board must also be clear on the divisions of roles and responsibilities. Alongside this the board must establish adequate systems for setting and appraising performance targets and obtaining regular information on the financial performance of the business.
Leadership	1. Does the pub have one person or a group of dedicated people to run it?	 This measure is largely subjective and unable to be established by data. 	The case study evidence suggests that successful community pubs have one or more dedicated people to run it, and that if they didn't the pub would not exist.
Capacity and support	 Does the pub have sufficient people to run the business? What is the mix of paid employees and volunteers? Does the pub have access to the requisite skill sets to run the pub? 	 Some ways of using data and information to understand success in this area are: Performing a skills audit of the employees and volunteers involved in the business. Some understanding of how many volunteers are at the pub's disposal – which could include the flow of volunteers joining the business over a period of time. 	The involvement of leaders/volunteers/staff with knowledge, skills, time and energy that are relevant to the business is a necessary condition for success. Some skills are more important to others within pubs. For example, financial management skills, sector specific skills and the ability to navigate regulations have all been referenced as important.
Partnerships	1. Does the pub have strong relationships with partners, such as support organisations, sector bodies or local councils?	 One way of understanding this factor through data would be to survey both the pub and its partners about their respective viewpoints on their relationship 	Success is underpinned by strong relationships with partners such as support organisations, public bodies, the supply chain and the community.

Success factor: community and external environment

Success factor	Measurement questions	Data and information sources	Rationale for inclusion
Community buy-in and support	1. Does the pub have community buy-in and support?	 Data could be generated from a community survey. Information could be gathered from the outcome of a community meeting. 	Understanding awareness, views and support is key and no secondary datasets will exist on issues related to the specific CB.
Economic and social context/ market conditions	 Does demand exist for the product? What factors affect demand for the product or service? What competitive pressures does the pub face? 	 There are several ways to determine demand and market conditions. One would be to survey the community to understand if they would use the pub's proposed services; another would be to do an audit of competitors within the surrounding area. More general statistics could look at demand from the perspective of population, employment and income statistics. Pen portraits of the economic fundamentals of particular localities can be found here: https://www.nomisweb.co.uk 	Determining if there is sufficient demand for the pub's services is fundamental to understanding if it is a viable business. Demand should be looked at with a note of caution. It is clear from the evidence that community pubs can create their own demand. Ultimately, headline economic indicators will provide an overview of a particular area, but they cannot say whether community buy-in can be generated to buy the pub's products or services.
Ability to navigate legislation and regulation	Are regulations and legislation effectively complied with?	 A survey could be undertaken by the business in order to gauge how well the board and key volunteers understand regulatory requirements. 	Legislation and regulations could apply to many different parts of the pub business. It could be employment law, food standards, age restrictions, or a number of other factors. Understanding how these affect the business, and what needs to be done in order to comply will help the smooth operation of the business.

Success factor	Measurement questions	Data and information sources	Rationale for inclusion
Approach to community ownership by public bodies	Are there examples of goodwill and support from local public bodies?	- The metrics that could be used to indicate success are previous grants made available, or previous planning permissions made available related to the pub.	If the local bodies actively support and promote community ownership then pubs will likely have a greater support network. For example, with respect to the planning process, the degree to which councils make effective use of powers available to them depends on factors such as aspiration and political will, whether the council has a clear and coherent vision for what they want to achieve with their planning policies and their level of understanding and confidence in the powers.
Availability of external support and guidance	1. Does the pub have the opportunity to access the relevant support and guidance from a variety of sources?	 A survey of those involved in the running of the pub could determine how widely support and guidance from other sources is accessed. 	Having the opportunity to access relevant support and guidance from a variety of sources such as the local authority, other businesses, sector bodies or individual mentors can support success.
Availability of assets	 Does the pub have access to available assets? Does the pub have the ability to service the costs of its assets? 	 This really depends upon what the asset is in question, but financial accounts will provide information on the cost of servicing an asset and the business plan should highlight if there are any problems with access to an asset. 	The availability of assets that are affordable is a key contributor to success.

Appendix B: Achieved sample

Tables 4 and 5 outline the type and number of participants included in each of the four case studies.

Table 4. Number of achieved telephone and face-to-face interviews with community pub staff and volunteers by case study

Case study	Volunteer board members	Volunteers (other)	Paid staff	Total
The Anglers Rest	3	0	1	4
The Centurion	2	1	1	4
The George and Dragon	3	0	1	4
The Drovers Inn	3	0	1	4

Table 5. Number of achieved focus groups with community pub customers by case study

Case study	Customers
The Anglers Rest	4
The Centurion	8
The George and Dragon	7
The Drovers Inn	9

Appendix C: Case study questionnaire

Business Characteristics		 You, your staff, and your volunteers having 	
1. How many years has the		insufficient time	\bigcup
Community Business been operating?		 Not having access to assets required to scale, such as property or vehicles 	
2. How many people does the Community Business employ on a full-time basis?		If a major obstacle to the overall success of your	0
3. How many people does the		community business is not included here, then please	e
Community Business employ on a part-time basis	?	specify.	
4. How many full-time volunteers does			
the Community Business have?		Business Plan	
5. How many part-time volunteers does		1. How often does your business review and update i	its
the Community Business have?		business plan? (please tick one box only)	
		 Once every six months (or more frequently) 	\subseteq
Barriers to success		 Once every 6-12 months 	Щ
1. We want to know about the biggest obstacles to		– Once every 12-18 months	Щ
overall success for your Community Business. Pleas rank the top 3 reasons, with #1 being the biggest	е	Once every 18-24 months	\bigcup
obstacle to success and #3 being the third largest obstacle:		– Less frequently than any of the above	
 Lack of access to finance to fund the business 		2. How often does your business review and update	its
– Other providers in the area competing with the		governance structure? (please tick one box only)	
Community Business		 Once every six months (or more frequently) 	Щ
 Regulation restricting business activity 		 Once every 6-12 months 	Щ
– Finding the right skills to run the business		– Once every 12-18 months	\bigcup
– Inadequate access to advice and support		– Once every 18-24 months	\bigcup
on how to run the business		– Less frequently than any of the above	
– A lack of buy-in, or interest, from the community			
A lack of available assets (land, vehicles, buildings)		3. Which of the following contribute to funding your Community Business? (please tick all that apply)	_
If a major obstacle to the overall success of your		 Grant or subsidy 	
community business is not included here then pleas	е	 Loan from a third sector organisation 	
specify.		– Loan from a high street bank	
2. We want to know about the biggest obstacles to		 Community share funding 	
2. We want to know about the biggest obstacles to growing your Community Business. Please rank the 3 reasons, with #1 being the biggest obstacle to grow and #3 being the third largest obstacle:	-	Other (please specify)4. Roughly how much of your Community Business'	
 Lack of access to finance 		annual income comes from grant funding or subsidy?	?
 Other providers in the area competing 		(please tick one box only)	
with the Community Business		- None of our annual income comes	
 Regulation restricting business activity 		from grant funding or subsidy	\mathbb{R}^{2}
– Finding the right skills to run the business		- Less than 10%	
– Not having enough specialist knowledge		- 10% - 20%	Щ
to scale the business		- 20% - 30%	Ц
		- 30% - 40%	

What works: Successful community pubs Appendix C: Case study questionnaire

- 40% - 50%		If we have missed an important skill set related to the question please tell us.	าis
- 50% - 60%		question please lett us.	
- 60% - 70%		2. We want to know which skill sets would be most	
- 70% - 80%		important to grow your Community Business. Please	e
- 80% - 90%		rank each of the following in order of importance, w	
- 90% - 100%		#1 being the most important skill set and #6 being the least important skill set.	ne _
5. Liquid Reserves are the assets held by a compan	11	– Financial management skills	
that can be used immediately to meet emergency	y	– Human resources management skills	
needs or future payment requirements. A 'week' of		 Knowledge of how to navigate 	
Liquid Reserves refers to the amount of liquid reserv	es .	regulations affecting your business	\bigcup
required to cover operating costs for a week.		 Trade skills (such as bricklayers or electricians) 	
How many weeks of Liquid Reserves do you carry?		– People skills	
6. If your business does receive income from grant		– Sector specific skills	
or subsidy, which of the following statements best represents your position. (please tick one box only)		If we have missed an important skill set related to the question please tell us.	าis
– Our business is unlikely to survive	_	Community and Estample Environment	
without grant or subsidy.		Community and External Environment	414
 Our business may be able to survive without grant or subsidy in the future, but we would have to change our business model. 	\cap	1. What are the biggest factors affecting demand for product or service that your business provides? Plearank in order of importance, with #1 being the bigger pressure and #5 being the smallest pressure:	ase
Our business will be able to survive without		 Other businesses providing the same 	
grant or subsidy in the future with few changes		product or service	\Box
to the business model, but cannot right now.		The performance of the economy	\cup
 Our business could survive without grant 		 Overall demand within the community that the business serves 	
or subsidy now.		 High business costs pushing up prices 	\vdash
		Our Community Business faces no	
Human Capital		competitive pressures	
1. We want to know which skill sets are most important to the approach of warring of your Community Publication		– Other (please specify)	\sqcap
to the successful running of your Community Busines Please rank each of the following in order of importan		a man (produce apracing)	
with #1 being the most important skill set and #6 being		2. Which of the following types of organisations doe	es.
the least important skill set.		your Community Business currently have relationsh	
– Financial management skills		with? (please tick all that apply)	_
– Human resources management skills		– Local authority	
– Knowledge of how to navigate regulations		– High street bank	
affecting your business		 Third sector funding provider 	
- Trade skills (such as bricklayers,		– A sector body	
electricians or drivers)	\Box	– Other (please specify)	
– People skills	\bigcup		
– Sector specific skills	\bigcup		



Power to Change

The Clarence Centre 6 St George's Circus London SE1 6FE

020 3857 7270

info@powertochange.org.uk powertochange.org.uk

y @peoplesbiz

Registered charity no. 1159982

ISBN 978-1-911324-07-2



Design: red-stone.com